### **Minutes**

At a meeting of the Full Council held at Council Chamber, County Hall, Preston, on Thursday, 18th July, 2019

#### Present:

County Councillor Paul Rigby (Chair)

# **County Councillors**

T Aldridge A Ali T Ashton A Atkinson M Barron L Beavers J Berry P Britcliffe I Brown P Buckley T Burns J Burrows Mrs S Charles	K Ellard D Foxcroft J Fillis A Gardiner J Gibson G Gooch M Green P Hayhurst N Hennessy S Holgate A Hosker D Howarth K Iddon	G Oliver M Parkinson J Parr M Pattison M Perks E Pope J Potter J Purcell J Rear A Riggott M Salter A Schofield J Shedwick
S Clarke	M Iqbal	D T Smith
A Clempson	A Kay	K Snape
Ms L Collinge	H Khan	D Stansfield
J Cooney	E Lewis	P Steen
L Cox	Ms S Malik	M Tomlinson
C Crompton M Dad	J Marsh T Martin	C Towneley S Turner
B Dawson	J Mein	A Vincent
F De Molfetta	S C Morris	C Wakeford
G Dowding	Y Motala	D Whipp
G Dowding G Driver	E Nash	G Wilkins
J Eaton	D O'Toole	P Williamson
C Edwards	Mrs L Oades	B Yates

# 1. Apologies and Announcements

Apologies for absence were presented on behalf of County Councillors Anne Cheetham; Paul Greenall; Jenny Molineux; Andrew Snowden and Jeff Sumner.

#### Announcements

Suspension of Standing Order B45(3)

The Chairman informed Full Council that he had agreed to suspend Standing Order B45(3) for County Councillor Jenny Purcell only to allow her votes to be counted whilst she was not in her designated seat.

The Queen's Birthday Honours List 2019

The Chairman congratulated two members of the Council who had recently been honoured in the Queen's Birthday Honours 2019:

County Councillor Miles Parkinson as an Officer of the Order of the British Empire (OBE), and County Councillor Munsif Dad as a Medallist of the Order of the British Empire (BEM), both for political service.

The Chairman also congratulated Mrs Janis Burdin of Longton, Headteacher of Moss Side Community Primary School, Leyland, who had been honoured as a Member of the Order of the British Empire (MBE), for services to education.

### Library Service Award

The library service had recently been named winner of the Lancashire Adult Learning's Partnership Star Award for the ongoing Library Ambitions programme of community learning in libraries.

Janet Hilton, Library Officer; Deborah Rowe, Libraries Team Leader; Diane Scarborough, Operational Libraries Manager; and Tracey Wyke, Business Support Officer, were present at Full Council and were congratulated on this achievement.

### Preston Bus Station Awards

During May this year, the county council received three awards at the Royal Institute of British Architects North West Regional awards for conservation; refurbishment; and client of the year. More recently, the county council received the Institute's National Award for the redevelopment works.

Andrew Barrow, Programme Manager; John Brogden, Quantity Surveyor; and Sharon McGuiness, Project Manager, were present at Full Council and were congratulated on this achievement.

## 2. Disclosure of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests

Name of Councillor	Agenda Item	Nature of Interest (non-pecuniary	
	Number	unless stated)	
Paul Rigby	Notice of Motion	Development Control Committee	
	Adjourned from	Member (Pecuniary)	
	23 May 2019		

#### 3. Question Time

County Councillor Gina Dowding asked her question as follows:

No.	Question From	Subject	For Answer by
1.	County Councillor Gina	County Council's	Cabinet Member
	Dowding	carbon footprint	for Economic
	_		Development,
			Environment and
			Planning

County Councillor Michael Green, Cabinet Member for Economic Development, Environment and Planning replied.

## 4. Confirmation of the Minutes from the Meeting held on 23 May 2019

**Resolved:** - That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 May 2019 be confirmed and signed by the Chairman.

# 5. Report by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman on Children's Social Care - 27 March 2019

County Councillor Phillippa Williamson moved a report setting out details of a finding of fault causing injustice after an investigation by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. The report set out the actions that had already been taken in response to the Ombudsman's recommendations.

#### **Resolved: -** That:

- (i) The recommendations set out in the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman's report at Appendix 'A' to the report, now presented, be noted.
- (ii) The actions already taken be noted and the further steps proposed in response to the report's recommendations, as set out in the report, now presented, be noted.

# 6. Report by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman on Children's Social Care - 8 May 2019

County Councillor Phillippa Williamson moved a report setting out details of a finding of fault causing injustice after an investigation by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. The report set out the actions that had already been taken in response to the Ombudsman's recommendations.

#### Resolved: - That:

- (i) The recommendations set out in the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman's report at Appendix 'A' to the report, now presented, be noted.
- (ii) The actions already taken be noted and the further steps proposed in response to the report's recommendations, as set out in the report, now presented, be noted.

## 7. Urgent Business

There was no urgent business to be considered.

# 8. Report of the Cabinet (Part B)

County Councillor Geoff Driver moved the report of the Cabinet from its meetings on 16 May and 13 June 2019.

**Resolved:** - That the report of the Cabinet, now presented, be noted.

## 9(a) The Urgency Committee

County Councillor Geoff Driver moved the report of the Urgency Committee setting out details of decisions taken by the Monitoring Officer under the county council's urgent business procedure on behalf of the Urgency Committee.

**Resolved: -** That the report of the Urgency Committee, now presented, be noted.

### 9(b) The Audit, Risk and Governance Committee

County Councillor Alan Schofield moved the report of the Audit, Risk and Governance Committee from its meeting on 20 May 2019.

**Resolved: -** That the report of the Audit, Risk and Governance Committee, now presented, be noted.

### 9(c) The Employment Committee

County Councillor Geoff Driver moved the report of the Employment Committee from its meeting on 8 July 2019.

**Resolved: -** That the report of the Employment Committee, now presented, be noted.

### 9(d) The Pension Fund Committee

County Councillor Eddie Pope moved the report of the Pension Fund Committee from its meeting on 21 June 2019.

**Resolved: -** That the report of the Pension Fund Committee, now presented, be noted.

## 9(e) The Overview and Scrutiny Committees

County Councillor David O'Toole moved the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees from their meetings as follows:

Children's Services Scrutiny Committee - 13 May 2019 Health Scrutiny Committee - 14 May and 26 June 2019 Internal Scrutiny Committee - 17 May 2019

**Resolved: -** That the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees, now presented, be noted.

## 10. Report of the Lancashire Combined Fire Authority

County Councillor Frank De Molfetta moved the report of the Lancashire Combined Fire Authority from its meeting on 17 June 2019.

**Resolved:** - That the report of the Lancashire Combined Fire Authority, now presented, be noted.

## 11. To consider Notices of Motion Submitted under Standing Order B36

The Chairman declared a pecuniary interest in the following Notice of Motion, adjourned from the meeting on 23 May 2019, and vacated the Chair. County Councillor Susie Charles, Vice-Chairman, assumed the Chair for consideration of the Notice of Motion.

### Notice of Motion adjourned from the meeting on 23 May 2019

The Vice-Chairman referred to the adjustment to the original Notice of Motion which had been requested by County Councillor Gina Dowding, included in the agenda, and which the Monitoring Officer was satisfied should be treated as the same motion.

The Vice-Chairman also informed Full Council that she was waiving Standing Order 37(2) to allow Councillor Dowding to speak again to present this adjusted version of the motion.

# It was moved by County Councillor Gina Dowding and seconded by County Councillor Paul Hayhurst that:

Retain the Current Safety Thresholds for Seismic Activity for Shale Gas Operations

Lancashire County Council welcomes the fact that to date the Government has confirmed it has no plans to change the Traffic Light System of seismic thresholds for the fracking industry.

Lancashire County Council resolves to write to the Energy Minister and the Prime Minister welcoming the Government's resolve not to change the thresholds and asks them to continue to prioritise public health and safety; and to write to Lancashire's MPs about the Council's position.

The following amendment was proposed by County Councillor Michael Green, seconded by County Councillor Aidy Riggott:

Lancashire County Council resolves to write to the Energy Minister and the Prime Minister welcoming the Government's resolve to continue to prioritise public health and safety in monitoring the 'fracking' industry and to write to Lancashire's MPs setting out the Council's position.

The amendment was put to the vote and was CARRIED and became the substantive motion.

The following amendment was proposed by County Councillor Gina Dowding and seconded by County Councillor Liz Oades:

Lancashire County Council resolves to write to the Energy Minister and the Prime Minister welcoming the Government's resolve to continue to prioritise public health and safety, and to keep the current Traffic Light System of seismic thresholds in monitoring the 'fracking' industry and to write to Lancashire's MPs setting out the Council's position.

Following a brief adjournment, the Chief Executive advised Full Council that the Vice-Chairman had accepted her advice on the reasons for accepting the original amendment, from County Councillor Green, which was now the substantive motion. This was that the amendment retained two of the three principles of the adjustment put forward by County Councillor Dowding and was therefore in order. Furthermore, the Vice-Chairman had accepted her advice that, in accordance with Standing Order 33a, the further amendment from County Councillor Dowding could not be accepted as it sought to rescind the resolution of Full Council which had just been made by seeking to re-insert the reference to the Traffic Light

System which had been removed by County Councillor Green's amendment, now the substantive motion.

The substantive motion was then put to the vote and was CARRIED. It was therefore:

#### Resolved: - That:

Lancashire County Council resolves to write to the Energy Minister and the Prime Minister welcoming the Government's resolve to continue to prioritise public health and safety in monitoring the 'fracking' industry and to write to Lancashire's MPs setting out the Council's position.

The Chairman resumed the Chair.

# 1. It was moved by County Councillor Lizzi Collinge and seconded by County Councillor Erica Lewis that:

This council believes that the transitional increase of the state pension age for women born in the 1950s (also known as WASPI women - Women Against State Pension Injustice) has been poorly managed, with many women given little to no notice of the increase in pensionable age, particularly of the acceleration of equalisation made in the Pensions Act 2011. Many women have suffered severe financial difficulties as a result.

This council notes that the WASPI Campaign 2018 does not seek to reverse the equalisation of pension ages but seeks better transitional arrangements, recognition of the injustice, and aid for women affected.

In recognition of the injustice and the hardship endured by the WASPI women, this council instructs officers to explore reworking the concessionary travel scheme to include some women affected by the changes to pension age. This exploration is to include the costs of any scheme and the impact of equalities legislation.

This council notes that Greater Manchester Combined Authority have given access to off-peak bus passes to some WASPI women and have provided details of their scheme.

Further, this council also instructs the Chief Executive and Director of Resources to write to the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions to make clear the council's view that better transitional arrangements must be made for WASPI women. Council notes that there is currently an ongoing judicial review on this issue and instructs officers to wait to send the letter until the judicial review is complete.

The following friendly amendment, which was accepted by County Councillor Collinge, was proposed by County Councillor Keith Iddon in accordance with Standing Order B42:

This council believes that the transitional increase of the state pension age for women born in the 1950s gave many women little to no notice of the increase in pensionable age, particularly of the acceleration of equalisation made in the Pensions Act 2011.

In recognition of this, council instructs officers to explore reworking the concessionary travel scheme to include some women affected by the changes to pension age. This exploration is to include the costs of any scheme and the impact of equalities legislation.

This council notes that Greater Manchester Combined Authority has given access to off-peak bus passes to some WASPI women and has provided details of their scheme.

Council notes that there is currently an ongoing judicial review on this issue.

The substantive motion, as amended by County Councillor Iddon's friendly amendment, was then put to the vote and was CARRIED. It was therefore:

#### Resolved: - That:

This council believes that the transitional increase of the state pension age for women born in the 1950s gave many women little to no notice of the increase in pensionable age, particularly of the acceleration of equalisation made in the Pensions Act 2011.

In recognition of this, council instructs officers to explore reworking the concessionary travel scheme to include some women affected by the changes to pension age. This exploration is to include the costs of any scheme and the impact of equalities legislation.

This council notes that Greater Manchester Combined Authority has given access to off-peak bus passes to some WASPI women and has provided details of their scheme.

Council notes that there is currently an ongoing judicial review on this issue.

# 2. It was moved by County Councillor David Foxcroft and seconded by County Councillor Azhar Ali that:

Recent work in other areas of the country has seen grass verges and dual carriageway centres transformed into vast wildflower corridors. This has multiple benefits for the areas that have been created – enhancing the support for wildlife, delivering bio-diversity, increasing the natural beauty and appeal of an area, attracting new visitors who come to see the colourful arrays created, as well as reducing the maintenance costs due to the low maintenance of such areas.

This council requests officers to assess the feasibility of establishing 'wildflower corridor' schemes across the County. Officers should also work with Parish and

District Councils on this matter. A report highlighting potential locations and areas suitable should be presented to Cabinet for information in the Autumn prior to beginning in Spring 2020.

On being put to the vote, the motion was CARRIED and it was:

#### Resolved: - That:

Recent work in other areas of the country has seen grass verges and dual carriageway centres transformed into vast wildflower corridors. This has multiple benefits for the areas that have been created – enhancing the support for wildlife, delivering bio-diversity, increasing the natural beauty and appeal of an area, attracting new visitors who come to see the colourful arrays created, as well as reducing the maintenance costs due to the low maintenance of such areas.

This council requests officers to assess the feasibility of establishing 'wildflower corridor' schemes across the County. Officers should also work with Parish and District Councils on this matter. A report highlighting potential locations and areas suitable should be presented to Cabinet for information in the Autumn prior to beginning in Spring 2020.

# 3. It was moved by County Councillor John Fillis and seconded by County Councillor Nikki Hennessy that:

Free Personal Care for Older People

Lancashire County Council recognises that older people in Lancashire are struggling with unmet care needs and believes that in light of an ageing population we need bold changes to deliver a long term funding solution for social care.

The Council believes that it is fundamentally unfair that to access basic care many older people face catastrophic costs that can run into hundreds of thousands of pounds, wiping out a lifetime of savings, and forcing families to sell their homes. The Council also believes that Lancashire's care system needs major reform to provide a long-term sustainable funding solution and to make care free at the point of use.

The Council therefore supports "Independent Age's" call for the introduction of free personal care for all older people in England. Lancashire County Council calls on the Government to take the necessary steps to implement this policy as swiftly as possible to end the care crisis and properly support older people in Lancashire.

The Council also asks the Chief Executive and Director of Resources to write to our Lancashire MPs to support the campaign for free personal care, and speak up in favour of the policy in the House of Commons, with the responses of the MPs to be reported back to Council.

The following friendly amendment, which was accepted by County Councillor Fillis, was proposed by County Councillor Graham Gooch in accordance with Standing Order B42:

Free Personal Care for Older People

Lancashire County Council recognises that, despite its best efforts, some older people in Lancashire are struggling with unmet care needs and believes that in light of an ageing population we need a long term funding solution for social care before we reach crisis point.

The Council believes that it is fundamentally unfair that to access basic care many older people face catastrophic costs that can run into hundreds of thousands of pounds, wiping out a lifetime of savings, and forcing families to sell their homes.

The Council acknowledges the work of "Independent Age" and "Policy Exchange" and urges the Government to:

- 1. Complete the welfare state by covering the costs of complex long-term social care, so that no individual or family faces ruinous costs or has to lose their home
- 2. Ensure that, like health on the NHS, long-term social care is available on the basis of need, and free at the point of delivery.
- End the present means test for social care. The capital components of the test should be eliminated altogether and the means-testing charging regime should be changed into a limited co-payment regime means tested on income.
- 4. This should not preclude additional private payments for extra services. Following Beveridge: "The state "should not stifle incentive, opportunity, responsibility; in establishing a national minimum, it should leave room and encouragement for voluntary action by each individual to provide more than that minimum for himself and his family".

The Council requests the Chief Executive to write to the Minister and our Lancashire MPs to support the campaign for free personal care, and speak up in favour of the policy in the House of Commons.

The substantive motion, as amended by County Councillor Gooch's friendly amendment, was then put to the vote and was CARRIED. It was therefore:

Resolved: - That:

Free Personal Care for Older People

Lancashire County Council recognises that, despite its best efforts, some older people in Lancashire are struggling with unmet care needs and believes that in light of an ageing population we need a long term funding solution for social care before we reach crisis point.

The Council believes that it is fundamentally unfair that to access basic care many older people face catastrophic costs that can run into hundreds of thousands of pounds, wiping out a lifetime of savings, and forcing families to sell their homes.

The Council acknowledges the work of "Independent Age" and "Policy Exchange" and urges the Government to:

- Complete the welfare state by covering the costs of complex long-term social care, so that no individual or family faces ruinous costs or has to lose their home
- 2. Ensure that, like health on the NHS, long-term social care is available on the basis of need, and free at the point of delivery.
- 3. End the present means test for social care. The capital components of the test should be eliminated altogether and the means-testing charging regime should be changed into a limited co-payment regime means tested on income.
- 4. This should not preclude additional private payments for extra services. Following Beveridge: "The state "should not stifle incentive, opportunity, responsibility; in establishing a national minimum, it should leave room and encouragement for voluntary action by each individual to provide more than that minimum for himself and his family".

The Council requests the Chief Executive to write to the Minister and our Lancashire MPs to support the campaign for free personal care, and speak up in favour of the policy in the House of Commons.

1. It was moved by County Councillor Margaret Pattison and seconded by County Councillor Jean Parr that:

Council notes with concern the proposed closure of the Outdoor Education Department at Morecambe Bay Academy and the detrimental impact this may have on children across Morecambe and Lancaster. Being able to access outdoor education locally is extremely important to the health and wellbeing of children, and gives them opportunities to develop vital life skills including leadership skills. This is especially important for children who struggle in a classroom setting.

Council believes that retaining the Outdoor Education Department at Morecambe Bay Academy would be beneficial to the pupils there and the many children from other schools who also access outdoor education through the department. This view supports our strategic Vision for Lancashire that 'We will support people and families to keep themselves healthy and well by choosing healthy lifestyles.

Council instructs the Chief Executive and Director of Resources to write to the Chair of the Bay Academy Trust setting out the Council's position.

The following friendly amendment, which was accepted by County Councillor Pattison, was proposed by County Councillor Phillippa Williamson in accordance with Standing Order B42:

Council notes the proposed closure of the Outdoor Education Department at Morecambe Bay Academy and the impact this may have on children across Morecambe and Lancaster. Being able to access outdoor education locally is extremely important to the health and wellbeing of children, and gives them opportunities to develop vital life skills including leadership skills. This is especially important for children who struggle in a classroom setting.

Council instructs the Executive Director of Education and Children's Services to work with the school leadership teams of Morecambe Bay Academy and other schools across the County, whether they are council maintained schools or Academies, to explore how the benefits of a wider curriculum offer, including outdoor education, can support children and young people to improve their overall wellbeing and to keep them fit and well.

The substantive motion, as amended by County Councillor Gooch's friendly amendment, was then put to the vote and was CARRIED. It was therefore:

#### Resolved: - That:

Council notes the proposed closure of the Outdoor Education Department at Morecambe Bay Academy and the impact this may have on children across Morecambe and Lancaster. Being able to access outdoor education locally is extremely important to the health and wellbeing of children, and gives them opportunities to develop vital life skills including leadership skills. This is especially important for children who struggle in a classroom setting.

Council instructs the Executive Director of Education and Children's Services to work with the school leadership teams of Morecambe Bay Academy and other schools across the County, whether they are council maintained schools or Academies, to explore how the benefits of a wider curriculum offer, including outdoor education, can support children and young people to improve their overall wellbeing and to keep them fit and well.

Angie Ridgwell
Chief Executive and Director
of Resources

County Hall Preston